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CHAPTER 1V.

DRAKE AS A PHYSICIAN AND PUBLIC MAN.

He was a man, take him for all in all,
[ shall not look upon his like again!
Shakespeare,

RAKE began his career as a citizen of Cincinnati by giving the com-
D munity his bond of good faith. He took unto himself a wife, The
bride of his youth was Miss Harriet Sisson, niece of Col. Jared
Mansfield, Surveyor-General of the United States, residing in Cincinnati.
Colonel Mansfield had been a professor at West Point and was a scholarly

e el M TR e

LunLow MANSION.

man, whose scientific attainments had been recognized by the United States
Government in the form of the above mentional official position. He resided
in the house which Col. Israel Ludlow had built, the place being generally
known as Ludlow’s Station (adjoining the present Spring Grove Cemetery).
The house of Colonel Mansfield is shown in the accompanying illustration.
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of power, to young men thirsting for knowledge, but the image still hovered round me.
I was then invited to Louisville, became a member of one of the ablest faculties ever
embodied in the West, and saw the halls of the university rapidly filled. But wlun
looked on the faces of four hundred students, behold! the image was in their midst.
While there I prosecuted an extensive course of personal inquiry into the causes and
cure of the diseases of the interior valley of the continent; and in journeyings by day,
and journeyings by mnight, on the water and on the land, while struggling thl'mhﬂu-" .
matted rushes where the Mississippi mingles with the Gulf, or camping with the Indians
and Canadian boatmen, under the pines and birches of Lake Superior, the image was
still my faithful companion, and whispered sweet words of encouragement and hope. T
bided my time; and, after twice doubling the period through which Jacob waited for
his Rachel, the united voice of the trustees and professors has recalled me to the chai
which I held in the beginning.”

Draki's RESIDENCE (1850)
({Now the site of 124 West Fourth Sireet)

Surely, if every man who has ever been connected with the old Ohio
College in the capacity of a teacher or a trustee, or both, had been imbued
with the patriotism and the sentiments of pure, unselfish devotion, that in-
spired these words of Daniel Drake, the old Ohio would have never descended
from that regal throne that should be, and, for a time, was her station.

Daniel Drake, mirabile dictu, resigned at the end of the session. He
yvearned for peace and quiet such as he had enjoyed in Louisville, The
Medical College of Ohio was still the scene of incessant wrangling and fight-
ing. Drake was disenchanted. He had sought the realization of the dreams
of his youth in vain. He returned to Louisville, where he was received with
open arms.  Parental love is a peculiar product. Its roots lie deep in the
human heart, and are nourished by the blood of the heart itself. It is blood-
love, and lives and dies with the blood—"“Blut ist ein gans besond'rer Safi!"
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DARIEL DRAKE'S MONUMENT IN SPRING GROVE CEMETERY, CINCINNATI, OHIO

The legend on the monument, which marks the last resting-place of Daniel
Drake, reads:

Sacred to the MEmary of Daniel Drake, a learned and disting‘ﬂiﬁhcd ﬂh}’ﬂil‘-iaﬂ. an
able and philosophic writer, an eminent teacher of the medical art, a citizen of ex-
emplary virtue and public spirit, 2 man rarely equalled in all the gentler qualities which
adorn social and domestic life, His fame is indelibly written in the records of his
country. His good deeds, impressed on beneficent public institutions, endure forever.
He lived in the fear of God and died in the hope of salvation.

He who rests here was an early inhabitant and untiring friend of the City of Cin-
cinnati with whose prosperity his fame is inseparably connected.
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The plan did not go into operation until 1871 when the school was established
at the southwest corner of Walnut Street and Gano Alley, whence it moved
into a house at the southwest corner of Fifth and John Streets. The faculty
consisted of E. S. Wayne (materia medica and pharmacy), J. F. Judge

E. 5. WAVKE ADOLPH FENNEL

Wi, B, CHAPMAN I. F. JunGce

(chemistry), and F. H. Renz (botany), The following year Wm, B. Chap-
man was added to the faculty. The first course was attended by fifty-one
students. Later on the institution moved into one of the historic buildings of
the city, the old Catharine Street Baptist Church. Catharine Street was at
one time the name of Court Street. In the early days the building fronted
the Baptist Cemetery which was-to the east of the old Methodist graveyard.
Since 1871 the Cincinnati College of Pharmacy has been in continuous opera-
tion. The early founders of the college were among the ablest exponents
of chemistry, botany and-scientific pharmacy in the country. Adolph Fennel
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fell heir to John Moorhead’s vast practice. For nearly forty years he was
one of the leading physicians of the city, beloved by his colleagues, revered
by his patients and respected by everybody. In the early vears of his career
he did some creditable work as an operator. In 1852, during a cholera epi-
demic, he literally sacrificed himself for the people of the city. He cared

THE FirstT HoME OoF PEVSIO-MEDICALISM TN CINCINNATI ( 15839)
(MME. TROLLOFE'S BAZAAR

little for medical societies and would not accept a position in a college. For a
few years he was on the staff of the Good Samaritan Hospital. He died
in 1882,

Foster in 1853 married into the family of Gen. William Lytle and took
up his abode in the old homestead, the “Lytle House,” which was one of the
most interesting, historical structures in Cincinnati. Wm. Lytle’s son, Gen.
Wm. H. Lytle, author of the once famous poem: “I am dying, Egypt, dying!”,
who died for his country at Chickamauga, was born in this house. In this
house many guests of national prominence were entertained and given a taste
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Flora of North America” (Philadelphia, 1828), is really the originator of
the botanical movement. He was a genius whose strange career puzzled his
contemporaries as much as it has been an enigma to posterity. In Cincinnati
the physio-medical or botanical practitioners had Alva Curtis to fight for
them and their cause. He was a host in himself, tremendously energetic,
well educated, a good talker and reasoner and by nature a fighter. That a
man of this character should in the course of time become greater than the
cause he was fighting for, is not surprising. Throughout his long and
strenuous career (he died in 1880) he kept himself prominently before the
people. He locked horns with some of the ablest medical men in this part
of the country, John P. Harrison, Roberts Bartholow, M. B. Wright and
others. He published the “Journal of Education” in 1866 and for fully

Arva CURTIS War. H. Cook

sixteen years the “Botanico-Medical Recorder.” With him the cause of
physio-medicalism in Cincinnati died, showing that all “systems” in medicine
need some extraneous support to prevent collapse. No “movement” in med-
icine can live which embodies a tendency towards constriction and restriction.
Science is necessarily free. It is essentially expansive, not limited; it is
centrifugal, not centripetal. Commercial interests may keep a “system” alive.
A powerful individuality may keep it above water. In the end any “system”
is doomed, and rightly so.

Compared to Alva Curtis the other leaders of physio-medicalism in Cin-
cinnati dwindle into insignificance. A rival institution conducted by a few
of the minor lights under the name of the “Physo-Medical College,” also
the “Physio-Medical Institute” (founded 1859), (Fifth Street and Western
Row) did not last. A man whose name was of some consequence in his day,
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became a private practitioner. The disastrous ending was made possible by the
absence of esprit de corps in his Miami professors. Staughton, a young am-
bitious man, was easily won away from him. Mitchell and Eberle were men
without stamina, though they meant well. Henry, the victim, played a part
which was not without a suggestion of heroism.

JOHN EBERLE. The humble birth of John Eberle, his early struggles, his
brilliant and yet blighted career and his tragic death at a comparatively
early age constitute a pathetic chapter in the history of American medicine,
While this gifted and unfortunate man spent but a few years of his life
in Cincinnati, he may justly be considered one of her eminent medical men.
Some of his best work was done while he was a professor in the Medical
College of Ohio. Here he reached the zenith of his fame as a great medical
teacher, whose name was spoken with respect even in Europe, where his

— - —

JOHY EBERLE Joux P, HARRISON

book on materia medica was familiar to all medical students. The book had
been translated into French and German (Paris and Weimar). During his
incumbency of a chair in the Medical College of Ohio he was considered one
of the three great Western physicians, the other two being Daniel Drake and
Benj. W. Dudley, of Lexington, Ky.

John Eberle was born in Hagerstown, Md., December 10, 1787. The
statement that he was born in Lancaster Co., Pa., in 1788, is erroneous.
His parents who were hard-working, respectable German people, moved to
Pennsylvania when John was an infant. His childhood was spent amid
people who had clung to their German language and customs. Thus the
boy was fully twelve years of age, before he acquired any knowledge of
English. He spoke English with a German accent all his life. Those who
did not know him well, considered him a full-fledged German. His early
education was scant. He loved books and by constant study and effort ac-
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JAMES M. STAUGHTON was born in Bordentown, N. J., in 1800, as the
only son of Rev. Wm. Staughton who was the president of a female seminary
in Bordentown, later on became a popular minister in charge of a large
Philadelphia congregation of Baptists and ultimately took charge of a lit-
erary college in Washington, D. C. At the age of twenty-one young Staugh-
ton received his medical degree from the University of Pennsylvamia and
removed to Washington where he soon acquired a respectable practice and
incidentally became professor of chemistry in Columbian College. Staughton
resigned his post after one session and went to Europe where he devoted
nearly two years to the study of surgery. When Columbian College organ-
ized a medical department, the chair of surgery was assigned to Staughton

JAMES M. STAUGHTON THOMAS D. MITCHELL

upon his return from Europe, Staughton was a brilliant lecturer and a
successful operator who soon attracted the attention of George McClellan, of

Philadelphia. The latter was on the lookout for available talent for the

newly founded Jefferson College. Staughton, however, did not go to Phila-
delphia, but upon invitation of Daniel Drake he came to Cincinnati to assume
the chair of surgery in the Medical Department of Miami Unversity. When
consolidation with the Medical College of Ohio took place, Staughton became
the professor of surgery and served, for a time, as dean of the faculty.
['he latter fact indicates the regard in which he was held personally and
professionally by his colleagues who were his seniors in age and experience.
He was only thirty-one years old at that time. He was a member of the
staff of the Commercial Hospital and made a good record as a successful
surgeon. That he was not spared in the tumultuous scenes of 1831, but
received his full share of tribulation, can be readily assumed. He was one
of the editors of the W estern Medical Gazette and contributed many valu-
able papers to its pages. He wrote a paper on “The Life and Services of
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CInCINNATI COLLEGE BUILDING
(BErected 1816, Destroved by fire 1534)

CINCINNATI COLLEGE BUILDING
[Erected 1545, Destroyed by fire 1360)
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other accomplishment—last, but not least—of this versatile man was his
poetical talent. He left quite a number of unpublished poems, many of
which are well conceived and beautifully written. Some are humorous, a
few are didactic, but most of them were inspired by his admiration for and
devotion to woman. Wood, like all good men, loved the ladies and apos-
trophized them in many well-worded poetic effusions.

JOHN A. WARDER was for twenty years one of the most eminent
physicians in Cincinnati and had at the time of his death risen to national
prominence as a naturalist. He was born in Philadelphia in 1812 and ab-
sorbed a deep love for and interest in Nature when a boy in his father’s
house, where Audubon and other famous naturalists were daily visitors. In

TroxMas Woon JoHN A. WARDER

1830 the family moved to Springfield, Ohio. In 1834 young Warder re-
turned to Philadelphia to attend Jefferson Medical College. He graduated
in 1836. The following year he located in Cincinnati and began to practice
his profession. During his residence in Cincinnati he was not only an en-
thusiastic and successful member of the profession, but a public-spirited and
energetic citizen. He was for several years a member of the School Board
and gave much of his time and labor to the problems of hygiene and sani-
tation in the schools. He traveled extensively to study problems of school
construction, methods of instruction and educational systems, and worked
incessantly to introduce the best and most advanced ideas in the schools of
Cincinnati. He was an active member of most scientific societies in this
part of the country, especially the Cincinnati Natural History Society and
served as a member of the Ohio State Board of Agriculture, He was a
practical landscape gardener and helped in the establishment of that beautiful
sample of landscape gardening, Spring Grove Cemetery. As early as 1850
225




































looking Graham was very timid and awkward. The announcement of his
appointment prompted the students of the other medical schools to attend his
first lecture in a body. That their intentions were not the most respectful
can readily be imagined. They prepared to give him a reception such as only
medical students in the West are capable of enacting. They went down
armed with paperwads and such other missiles of juvenile aggression. They
came pouring in at the door. Doctor Graham was just at his desk, and was
stopped by the noise. For a moment he was thoroughly confused, then,
straightening himself, he begged for a few moments’ attention. Forthwith
he commenced his subject and, as stimulated by the opposition, he continued
his lecture. He poured out such a stream of simple eloquence as won every
heart. Cheer after cheer went up as he closed. The whole class was won.

JamEs GRAHAM ; GEORGE FRIES

In 1855 he became professor of materia medica and therapeutics in the
Medical College of Ohio, In 1859 clinical medicine was added to his chair.
In 1864 he became professor of practice. He held the chair for ten years,
became an emeritus professor in 1874, and died, after a lingering illness,
in 1879.

There is abundant testimony to show that Graham was a most extraordi-
nary bedside instructor. During his lifetime no American teacher of clin-
ical medicine was thought to be his superior and very few Europeans were
considered his equals as bedside teachers. There were more scholarly men,
more thorough pathologists, more impressive speakers, and yet he was the
prince of them all, when it was a question of presenting a clinical problem
to the uncultured country student fresh from the plough, or to the educated
college graduate, instructing, pleasing and interesting both with equal ease.
Graham stood up before his class straight as an arrow, his face plainly
showing that his very soul was afire with the subject in hand. “He had a
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Tniversity of the City of Mew ¥ork. ...cocaiininiininiomirensivascs 19

Medical Department University of Buffalo. .. ......covviiiiiaiin,, 34
Cleveland Medical College, Ohio. . o oD e M ey
Medical Department of Georgetown Cuﬂcgc ........................ 20
Medical College of Virginia. . e Tl e et S S R |

National Medical College, "l.“l.-’ashmgtun .............................

In 1878 there were about 800 medical students in Cincinnati. About 350
of these were Ohio matriculates, The number of students from the West
had been gradually increasing while the schools in the East, notably those in
Philadelphia, had experienced a corresponding decrease in the attendance of
Western students. The time-honored hegemony of the Eastern schools had
finally been conquered by Western talent and genius. The following year
the number of graduates broke all records. The graduating class numbered
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MEDICAT, DEPARTMENT OF THE UNIVERSITY 0F CINCINNATI (since 1896).

121. For several years before and after, it was never less than 100. The
era of unparalleled prosperity and prominence was the creation of that race
of giants that rose and began its mighty labors in the ten years following the
close of the Civil War. In the lives and services of these great men there is
something of almost epic grandeur. All of them have passed to the Elysian
fields. Reamy and Conner were the last of the Old Guard to heed the final
summons. With them vanished the last remnants of an age that produced
not only great physicians but great men.

In 1871 Bartholow suggested to buy the college building and present it
to the University of Cincinnati for its medical department. Graham, Dawson
and Bartholow were appointed a committee to interest the citizens of Cincin-
nati in the plan. The scheme aroused no enthusiasm and was dropped. Fif-
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Obstetrics—Daniel Drake, John Moorhead, Josiah Whitman, John F.
Henry, M. B. Wright, L. C. Rives, N. T. Marshall, George Mendenhall, M. B,
Wright, Th. Parvin, C. D, Palmer, T. A. Reamy, E. G. Zinke.

Gynecology—Daniel Drake, John Moorhead, Josiah Whitman, John F,
Henry, M. B. Wright, L. C. Rives, N. T. Marshall, George Mendenhall,
B. F. Richardson, M. B. Wright, Th. Parvin, C. D. Palmer, C. L. Bonifield.

The Medical College of Ohio, after the session 1908-'09, will be, nom-
inally and actually, extinet. Among the men who belonged to the teaching
force of the venerable institution during the last session of its career, were
some good types of practitioners and teachers. It is to be hoped that the new
Medical Department of the University of Cincinnati will at last furnish the
soil upon which ambition, ability and individual worth can develop and
flourish. Able incumbents of additional chairs during the session 1908-'09
were: Brooks I, Beebe (mental diseases), 5. C. Ayres, (ophthalmology),

HowaARD AVERS CHAS. W. DABNEY

H. J. Whitacre (pathology), C. A. L. Reed (clinical gynecology), A. H.
Freiberg (orthopedic surgery), R. Carothers (clinical surgery), J. W. Rowe
(clinical obstetrics), Philip Zenner and H. H. Hoppe (neurology), B. F. Lyle
(diseases of the chest), A. G. Drury (hygiene), and J. E. Greiwe (practice
and physical diagnosis). The loss of prestige of the Medical College of Ohio
was largely the result of injudicious management on the part of the oligarchy
in control. There was no dearth of talent in the faculty. The misfortune
was the narrow policy of the managers who seemed to follow the example
of John T. Shotwell, of inglorious memory.

The Medical Department of the University of Cincinnati will begin its
career in the Fall of 1909, ninety years after the birth of the Medical College
of Ohio. If the leaders of the new school are imbued with but a part of the
unselfish spirit which animated the immortal Drake when he laid the founda-
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other paper (“Exsection of Ulna") is quoted by Gross in his Centennial His-
tory of Medicine in America. In this work three Cincinnati surgeons are
mentioned : Mussey, Blackman and Muscroft. In 1876 Muscroft was elected
president of the Cincinnati Academy of Medicine. Muscroft is the author
of the sketch of the “Life and Services of Geo. C. Blackman” in the Trans-
actions of the American Medical Association (1872).

EDWARD RIVES was the son of Landon C. Rives, Drake’s associate
in the Medical Department of the Cincinnati College. He was born in Cin-
cinnati in 1833. His education was obtained at the University of Virginia,
He began the study of medicine in his father’s office and matriculated at the
New York College of Physicians and Surgeons, where he was the student of
Willard Parker, his father’s erstwhile colleague in the Cincinnati College.

Epwarp RivEs Laxpox R. LONGWORTH

He graduated with high honors and entered Bellevue Hospital as an interne,
subsequently serving in the Randall Island Children’s Hospital for two years.
His first experience as a practicing physician was gained in the mountains
of Virginia where he had formed a partnership with Dr. 1. C. Rives, Jr.,
an older brother. When the war broke out, he entered the medical service of
the army of the Confederacy as brigade surgeon in Pickett’s Division of
the Army of Northern Virginia. He served throughout the war and left a
magnificent record behind as a medical officer of ability, skill and loyalty to
duty. He was considered the peer of any surgeon in the Confederate serv-
ice. He filled the chair of physiology in the Medical College of Ohio during
the session 1869-"7T0. In his class work he had the assistance of his brilliant
nephew, Landon R. Longworth. Rives was presumably the first man in this
country who used the magic lantern as a means of illustration before the class,
especially in the demonstration of microscopic slides, in the preparation of
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CHAUNCEY D. PALMER was born in Zanesville, Ohio, in 1839,
began his medical studies in the office of John Davis and graduated from
the Medical College of Ohio in 1862, For two years he was stationed as
assistant surgeon at Camp Dennison, Ohio. In 1870 he succeeded Th.
Parvin in the chair of obstetrics and diseases of women and children. In
1872 when a rule was adopted that no member of the staff of the Cincinnati
Hospital should be connected with any medical college, Palmer resigned his
chair in the college in order to retain his position in the hospital. When, a
few months later, the rule was rescinded, he re-assumed his chair, dividing
it with T. A. Reamy who taught obstetrics. Palmer retained the chair of
gynecology until 1906 when he resigned. He has been a liberal contributor
to the literature of his specialty. Probably his best paper is that on the
“Differential Diagnosis of Pregnancy and Abdominal Tumors™ in the
American Text-book of Obstetrics. He has enriched the armamentarium
of obstetrics and gynecology by an obstetrical forceps, a speculum and a
dilator.

J. L. CLEVELAKD Cuas. C. MUSCROFT

JOHN L. CLEVELAND was born on a farm in Kenton County, Ken-
tucky, in 1841. In 1854 he entered the district school in Covington, Ky.,
in 1855 the high school from which he graduated in 1859, He continued
his studies at Centre College, Danville, Ky., at Miami University, Oxford,
Ohio, and took his bachelor’s degree at Centre College in 1863. For two
years he studied theology in Princeton. In 1865 he began his medical course
at the Medical College of Ohio, graduated in 1868, seryed one year in the

Commercial Hospital and entered general practice. From 1870 to 1874 he

was demonstrator of anatomy in his Alma Mater. For one term (1872-'73)
he lectured on gynecology. In 1882 he was elected president of the Academy
of Medicine, He was professor of practice in the Laura Memorial College.
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especially as far as the glory and the revenue were concerned. He started
out by renting a building at the southwest corner of Longworth Street and
Western Row (Central Avenue), which he fitted up as a medical college
with a hospital attachment. He assumed the deanship and the chair of sur-
gery. Benj. S. Lawson, Registrar, was professor of practice. R. A. Spencer
was the anatomist, Charles W. Wright the chemist. The remaining profes-
sors were James Graham (materia medica), J. Sidney Skinner (pathology),
Edward Mead (obstetrics and diseases of women and children). Charles W.
Wright (not related to M. B. Wright) had been connected with the “Med-
ical Institute.” James Graham, subsequently a giant among medical teachers,
was a young beginner, “to fortune and to fame unknown.” Baker, in “dis-
covering” Graham, showed what a splendid judge of men he was. Edward
Mead was probably the best educated man in the first faculty of Baker's
school.

CINCINXNATI COLLEGE OF MEDICINE AND SURGERY (1851-1871)

The fees were fixed at $10 for each professor, $5 for matriculation, $10
demonstrator’s ticket, $25 graduation fee and %5 hospital ticket. The hos-
pital referred to in the last item is the Commercial Hospital. Baker profited
by Drake's fight (1835 to 1839). After a four years' struggle Drake suc-
ceeded in getting the Legislature in 1839 to open the portals of the Commer-
cial Hospital to the students of any regular school of medicine. Baker took a
decided stand, basing his claim on the legislative act of 1839 and obtained
the hospital privilege for his students without any struggle.

The personnel of the faculty was constantly changing under Baker's re-
gime. Some of the early professors remained but one term, several of them
not even a full term. Baker was a hard taskmaster. He expected his asso-
ciates in the faculty to work for glory while he pocketed the proceeds. In
addition to this he was an arbitrary manager whose will was supposed to
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medicine (physiology), and John Locke, Jr., professor of chemistry. The
appointment of John Locke, son of the great scientist, was prompted by
sentiment rather than by his particular fitness. John Locke, Sr., was ignomini-
ously dismissed from the faculty of the Ohio College a few months after the
Miami College had begun its career. Locke's position in the college had
been in jeopardy for at least two terms. WVattier hated him and would have
probably dismissed him sooner if he had been able to find a suitable substi-
tute. Perhaps he was afraid that the Miami faculty would be strengthened
by the accession of Locke. The latter was immensely popular among the
younger men in the profession, and it is more than likely that efforts were
made to persuade Locke to resign with Mussey and join the new school.
John Locke’s heart was with the old school that he had helped to build up.

Mranm1 MEDICAL CoLLEGE (1352-1857)

He remained at his post until told that he was no longer wanted. John
Locke, Jr., was elected professor of chemistry in the Miami College, but he
never served. He remained with his father in the Ohio school in the capacity
of assistant. His place in the Miami school was taken by H. E. Foote,

The building at the northwest corner of Fifth Street and Central Avenue
(Western Row) was remodelled and became the first home of the Miami
Medical College. A dispensary was established in the college building and
clinical lectures and demonstrations given in St. John's Hotel for Invalids,
northwest corner Third and Plum Streets, which was under the professional
control of the Miami faculty. The new school started with thirty-four stu-
dents. The school grew in favor with the profession and enjoyed increasing
patronage, The graduating class in 1853 numbered seven, in 1854 seven-
teen, in 1855 seventeen, in 1856 eighteen, in 1857 thirty-one. The number of
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the town of Worthington, Ohio, near Columbus, one of the most noted edu-
cators in the United States, Rev. Philander Chase, was principal of a literary
college which had been chartered by the Legislature of Ohio as early as
1808. The friends of the institution, notably Col. James Kilbourne, offered
Wooster Beach the charter and edifice of Worthington College for the estab-
lishment of a medical department. The latter was opened in 1830 with
eight students and Dr. T. V. Morrow, of Kentucky, one of Wooster Beach's
pupils, as dean of the medical faculty. The institution prospered for nine

CINCINNATI ECLECTIC MEDICAL INSTITUTE (1846)

years. In 1839 a riot was precipitated by the finding of a dead body in
the college building, that had been taken from a neighboring graveyard by
the students of the college. Doctor Morrow's house was destroyed by the
infuriated populace. He decided that Worthington was not a favorable soil
for medical teaching and removed to Cincinnati in 1842, He at once took
up his work and gave a course of lectures in the “Hay Scales House,” corner
of Sixth and Vine Streets, Cincinnati. The following year lectures were
given in a house on Third Street. In 1845 “Fourth Street Hall” was rented
for the purpose. In the same year a petition, signed by the mayor, most
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Streets. Nearly a million dollars were spent in the erection of the new
hospital. The latter, covering one entire block, was dedicated January 8,

1869, Marmaduke Burr Wright, the distinguished obstetrician, delivering
the oration on behalf of the profession. The splendid structure was for
many years one of the greatest architectural attractions in this part of the
country and swelled the hearts of the Cincinnati people with justifiable pride.
The first operation performed in the new hospital was a hip-joint amputa-
tion. Thomas Wood was the operator.

In the earlier annual reports of the Cincinnati Hospital the following de-
scription of the building and account of its management are given:

Ciweinwart HospiTan (1870)

The Cincinnati Hospital occupies the square bounded by Twelfth Street, Central
Avenue, Ann and Plum Streets, being 448 feet front from north to south, and 340
feet from east to west. The structure consists of eight distinct buildings, placed en
echelon, and connected by corridors, surrounding an extensive center yard or court.

The central portion and main entrance are situated on Twelfth Street, midway between

Central Avenue and Plum Street, and is termed the Administrative Department. This
contains offices, library, dispensary, superintendent’s and officers’ apartments, kitchen
and dining-rooms.  On the upper floor is the amphitheatre, with seats for the accom-
modation of six hundred students,

There are six pavilions, three stories in height. Three of the pavilions are on the
Eastern or Plum Street side, and three on the Western or Central Avenue side. Each
pavilion contains three wards, one on each floor, of which those in the central pavilion
contain thirty-six beds each, and the rest twenty-four each, allowing 1,800 cubic feet
of space in the wards to each bed. The central pavilions contain each also six private
rooms each. At one end of the wards are situated the nurses’ rooms, diet kitchens,
dining-rooms for canvalescents, closets for bedding and clothing, dumb-waiters and
clevators for patients, At the other end are located the bath rooms, water closets and
reading rooms.  In the basement of the pavilions are store rooms, baggage rooms,
heating chambers, mortuary, ete., and a passage-way around the entire establishment.
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and surgical art and science in the West. For years a training school for
nurses has been in operation. The capacity of the hospital is over five hun-
dred beds.

The Cincinnati Hospital in its capacity as a great school of clinical medi-
cine, has reflected the medical life of the city and more particularly that of
its medical colleges. It is, therefore, not surprising that its history is not
altogether a record of peaceful achievements. The politicians and the con-
tending medical factions since 1870 have fought many and bitter battles in
connection with the Cincinnati Hospital. No other public institution has
furnished so much material for the columns of the sensational newspapers.
The charge of “gang-rule” in the matter of staff appointments was brought
by the “Medical News” within a month after the hospital had been opened.

CoURT OF THE CINCINNATI HOSPITAL

The wrangle about staff positions was so offensive to public sentiment that in
1872 a terporary rule was adopted to the effect that no medical teacher was
to serve on the staff of the hospital. The faculties of the medical schools
were thus excluded and the positions given to outsiders. This arrangement
was unsatisfactory because in this way the hospital lost the services of some
of the best men in the profession. The rule was quickly rescinded, even
if it was a fact that some of the outsiders were men of superior knowledge
and ability, . g., William Carson.

The Cincinnati Hospital has been the bone of contention between the dif-
ferent colleges. That the controversies in the early seventies were hardly
characterized by that degree of dignity and equanimity which one would
expect among professional gentlemen, can not be denied (Thacker), The
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tion as a clinical teacher of great ability. He served on the hospital staff
from 1871 to 1892. He was born in Chillicothe, Ohio, in 1827, and received
his early literary education at Miami University, Oxford, Ohio, where he
graduated in 1846, He studied medicine at the University of Pennsylvania,
taking his degree in 1850, and located in Cincinnati, where he gradually rose
to one of the highest places in the local profession, especially as a specialist
in diseases of the chest, His skill at the bedside and unerring judgment as a
diagnostician were a by-word with the profession. He was physician to the
old St. John's Hospital and for many years a member of the staff of the
Good Samaritan and that of the Cincinnati Hospital. Carson was a man of
few words, of a cold and austere temperament, but rigidly honest in his inter-
course with his colleagues. He died in 1893,

War. Carson

In 1877 a new amphitheatre was opened for the accommodation of the
medical students from the different medical colleges. M. B. Wright and
C. G. Comegys delivered eloquent addresses on this occasion.

The origin of the library of the Cincinnati Hospital has been referred
to in the biography of its founder, John H. Tate. This library contains a
large and most valuable collection of medical books. Its location in an in-
accessible part of the building, is most unfortunate. It is a dark and dingy
place, ill-ventilated, hard to keep even reasonably clean and likely to be
destroyed by fire at any time. The absence of a catalogue deprives the
library of most of its value.

The hospital is about to be abandoned. The politicians in 1906 decided
that a larger and more modern municipal hospital shall be erected in the
fashionable suburb of Avondale, far removed from the sick population which
is in the habit of seeking relief within the walls of the public hospital. The
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the Cincinnati home of the Sisters of Charity became the Mother House for
the entire Community. In the same year the above-mentioned Hotel for
Invalids was opened with accommodations for twenty patients. In the same
house Dr. Talliaferro and others had conducted a private hospital for about
ten years. Previously the house had been occupied by a boarding school for
young ladies. Harriett Beecher Stowe had taught in this school. When the
Sisters of Charity took charge of the building, they called their new institu-
tion “5t. John's Hotel for Invalids” in honor of St. John the Baptist, the
patron saint of the Ecclesiastical Superior of the Sisters of Charity, Arch-
bishop Purcell. The medical staff was composed of the professors of the
newly organized Miami Medical -College. Coincidently with starting this
hospital, the Sisters of Charity had opened a large asylum for male orphans
at the northwest corner of Plum and Third Streets under the name of St.
Peter’s Asylum and a home for female orphans in Cumminsville (St. Jo-
seph’s Asylum).

Di. TALLIAFERRO'S HOSPITAL, AFTERWARDS HOTEL ForR INvaLIDS (1845)

The Sisters rapidly enlarged the field of their activity in Cincinnati. In
1853 they opened a Boarding and Day School at the southeast corner of
Sixth and Park Streets. In the following year the “Stone House” on Mt.
Harrison (near Mt. St. Mary's Seminary) was purchased and formally
opened as the Mother House under the name of Mt. St. Vincent. In 1854
the Sisters were incorporated under the laws of Ohio.

In 1855 the St. John’s Hotel for Invalids was moved to the northwest
corner of Third and Plum Streets, St. Peter's Orphan Asylum having found
a new home in Cumminsville. The cost of making the necessary alterations
in the building and fitting the latter up as a hospital was borne by Drs. Mus-
sey, Mendenhall, Murphy and Foote. The new hospital had accommodations
for seventy-five patients. It became a famous institution, whose name will
for all time to come be associated with that of Geo. C. Blackman, the great
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The number of patients taken care of in the hospital in 1907 was nearly
500. About thirty deaconesses are engaged in caring for the sick.

THE HOSPITAL OF THE METHODIST DEACONESSES (CHrist
Hospitar). In 1888 the Methodists founded a home for deaconesses in a
house on York Street, near John. In this building of eleven rooms Christ
Hospital was opened in the month of September, 1889. Within a few months
the house was found to be too small to accommodate the patients who ap-

HOSPITAL OF THE GERMAN PROTESTANT DEACONESSES

plied for admission. Neighboring houses were rented until the institution
had a capacity of sixty rooms. The number of deaconesses was constantly
increasing. When the Home was opened, there were but two deaconesses
to take possession. Within two wvears thirty deaconesses were engaged in
the work. Still the work was growing and the need of larger quarters be-
came imperative. At this juncture James Gamble, Sr., purchased the capa-
cions house previously occupied by the Thane Miller Boarding School for
Girls, and, having fitted it up in keeping with the requirements of a modern
hospital, donated it to the Methodist Deaconesses. In the month of June,
1893, the new Christ Hospital was formally opened with accommodations
for sixty patients. The hospital is pleasantly situated on Mount Auburn.
Its very environment suggests some of the most brilliant achievements of
E€incinnati’s medical past. The house on Auburn Avenuve, located to the
right of the entrance or drive-way leading to Christ Hospital was many
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years ago the residence of Reuben Dimond Mussey, the distinguished sur-
geon. In 1900 a large female ward was added, increasing the capacily to
eighty beds. In 1902 a power house was erected north of the hospital build-
ing proper. The power house provides the institution with electricity, ope-
rates an ice plant, a heating system and a laundry. Many internal improve-
ments were added in 1903, making the hospital a thoroughly modern insti-
tution with a capacity of 120 beds. In 1908 a Nurses’ Home was opened
in conjunction with Christ Hospital, to commemorate the name of Mary E.
Gamble. The nursing staff numbers sixty nurses. Over 1,200 patients were
admitted to the hospital during the eighteen years of its existence. Christ
Hospital has an attending staff of seventeen physicians and surgeons and a
consulting staff of six. The chief of staff is John C. Oliver. The dea-
conesses, in addition to this fine, modern hospital, conduct two kindergartens

CHRIST HOSPITAL

and three industrial schools, and exert their efforts in many other humani-
tarian directions. All these philanthropic enterprises will preserve the names
of the noble men and women of the Gamble family through whose generosity
the great work represented by Christ Hospital and its accessory institutions
was made possible. The Deaconesses Home and Cincinnati Missionary
Training School, conducted by the Elizabeth Gamble Deaconess Home As-

sociation, is located on Wesley Avenue and occupies the building of the
old Wesleyan Seminary.

THE PRESBYTERIAN HOSPITAL. This institution was the out-
growth of a free dispensary for women and children started in February,
1889, by Mary E. Osborn and Juliet M. Thorpe, In May, 1890, the hos-
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pital under the above name was opened with a capacity of about thirty beds.
In October, 1890, a medical college for women was founded in conjunction
with the Presbyterian Hospital. The name of the new college was the
“Presbyterian Hospital Woman’s Medical College.” In 1895 it was con-
solidated with the Cincinnati Woman's Medical College, mentioned in the
chapter about the Cincinnati College of Medicine and Surgery. Alexander
MecDonald, a wealthy Cincinnati philanthropist, had endowed the Presby-
terian Hospital very liberally and gave substantial support to its medical
college. The combined medical school was called “Laura Memorial College”
to commemorate the name of the only daughter of Alexander McDonald,
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THE PRESBYVTERIAN HOSPITAL. SINCE 187 THE SETON HOSFITAL

Mrs. Laura Stallo, whose untimely death had occurred a short time pre-
viously. The Presbyterian Hospital grew from small beginnings to an
institution of respectable proportions, accommodating nearly 100 patients,
Strangely enough, prosperity could not keep the institution alive, Its man-
agement was in the hands of a board of trustees, consisting of society ladies
with great enthusiasm and the best of intentions. In 1905 the hospital
passed out of existence. The buildings in 1907 were purchased by the
Sisters of Charity, and are now the home of the Seton Hospital.

The Laura Memorial College, after a relatively successful career of
eight years, was abandoned in 1903. A discordant faculty was the direct

429













































time when the Academy was founded. Action was postponed because the
members of the Cincinnati Medical Society wanted to wait and see how the
new venture would succeed. After the first enthusiasm had worn off, the
Academy started to hold meetings at the houses of different members, and
the members of the Cincinnati Medical Society declined to merge. At this
juncture (1860) Robert R. Mcllvaine, the indefatigable founder of the
Academy, returned from Paris, kindled the fires of enthusiasm anew, es-
tablished weekly meetings of the Academy in a special hall and finally induced
the Cincinnati Medical Society to become a part of the Academy.

An interesting event of the year 1853 was the visit of the famous physi-
ologist, Marshall Hall, who spent a week or more in Cincinnati, and attended
a meeting of the Cincinnati Medical Society, in which he spoke on “Epi-
lepsy.” In 1836 the society held a public meeting in Smith and Nixon’s Hall
in honor of John Locke’s memory. At this meeting M. B, Wright delivered

IspAEL 5. DOoDGE WorLcorTT RICHARDS

his famous oration on “The Life and Services of John Locke.” One of the
eminent members of - the Cincinnati Medical Society was ISRAEL 5.
DODGE, born in Waterford, Ohio, in 1807, and educated at Kenyon Col-
lege. He graduated from the Medical College of Ohio in 1835, located in
Cincinnati, and for thirty-seven years occupied a leading position as a gen-
eral practitioner. He was not connected with any college, but owing to his
prominent position, wielded a vast influence on the trend of medical affairs.
There was no physician that was more highly esteemed by George C. Black-
man than Dodge. He was a staunch supporter of the Medical College of
Ohio. His death occurred in 1872, '

Another conspicuous figure in the Cincinnati Medical Society was WOL-
COTT RICHARDS, one of the leaders of the local profession during his
long professional career. He was born in New London, Conn., in 1803, He
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ship” has been dramatized and is a work of fiction of acknowledged origin-
ality and value. Minor has been an indefatigable worker. The bibliography
of his shorter writings and of his translations, especially from the French
masters of the medical feuilleton (“Parisian Medical Chit-chat,” “The Ewil
that Has Been Said of Doctors,” “The Good that Has Been Said of Doc-
tors,” “Medicine in Ancient Rome,” “Medicine in the Middle Ages,” “His-
tory of Prostitution in Antiquity,” “The Medical School of Salerno” and
many more), is an eloquent object-lesson of industry and enthusiasm to the
vounger men in the profession. He has written opera-librettos and has scat-
tered gems of thoughts in settings of exquisite poetic form or in the less
pretentious garb of prose-composition, to please the passing fancy of the
moment or to afford pleasure to others, without even as much as keeping a
record of the children of his genius,—a veritable embarras de richesse. Cou-
pled with his astounding productiveness is his unparalleled modesty which
has kept him from seeking applause or even appreciation. Minor is an
altruist in his work. The work itself is at once incentive and reward to
him. In the history of medical writing in this Western country Minor will
always deservedly occupy a place of honor. Among the literary followers of
Daniel Drake he ranks as one of the foremost.

A. G. DrRURY

ALEXANDER GREER DRURY, son of Rev. Asa Drury, who is re-
ferred to elsewhere in this book, was born in Covington, Ky., February 3,
1844, After attending the public and high school of his native town, he
entered Center College, Danville, Ky., in 1861 and took his baccalaureate
degree in the arts in 1865. In 1865 he began his medical studies in the Med-
ical College of Ohio. After two courses of lectures he matriculated at the
University of Pennsylvania and graduated in 1868. After a year and a
half in Europe he entered general practice in Cincinnati. In 1878 he received
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dead level of impecuniosity through all the son’s minority.” The son’s love
of knowledge and study triumphed over all difficulties. The years of his
childhood and adolescence were spent amid all kinds of manual and memnial
work interspersed with many a long night-vigil over books which he man-
aged to buy or borrow. When he was twenty years of age, he had qualified
himself to take charge of a little country school. He rapidly rose in the
profession of teaching, and after twelve years was the principal of a high
school. At this time he began the study of medicine under J. M. Scudder.
In 1867 he graduated from the Eclectic Medical Institute, practiced for one
vear in Mt. Carmel, Ind., and for twelve years in Indianapolis, Ind., where
he edited a small journal, the “Medical Review.” In 1880 he took up his
permanent abode in Cleves, Ohio. For fifteen years he was W. E. Bloyer's
associate in the editorial management of the “Medical Gleaner.” In this
capacity he attracted attention by his vigorous idiomatic English and his

E. 5 McKEE W. C. CooPER

quaint originality of thought. His Yook “Tethered Truants,” containing many
of his essays, sketches and poems, reveals Cooper's powers as a word-painter,
a sharp and forcible critic and observer and, in no small degree, his gift of
delightful humor. His book on “Immortality” is a philosophic product in
which Cooper appears as a hopeful agnostic. Another one of his books,
“Mind and Matter,” follows along similar paths. Its lines were penned by
an absolute modernist, yet the ascetic frigidity of materialistic research is
relieved by the warm glow of optimism. A similar work is “The Primitive
Fundamental.” His views on the philosophy of medicine are contained in
his “Preventive Medicine.” Cooper has recently lost his hearing and sight
and is otherwise in frail health. His remarkable mind is as original, clear
and active as ever. Thé optimism of former years has given way to a stoicism
that 1s pathetic. In a recent letter to the author he says: “I am now a mere
wrinkled reminiscence, groping in the haze of senescence. I am standing
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HENRY HAACKE never practiced medicine, but for years was a con-
tributor to the current medical press. He translated from the French and
German and for a number of years after his graduation in medicine was em-
ploved by Eastern publishers who were preparing American editions of Ger-
man and French medical works. He was born in Germany in 1832, came to
Cincinnati in 1856, taught French and German at Woodward High School
and graduated from the Medical College of Ohio in 1869. In 1872 he pur-
chased the Folksfreund, and was its editor and publisher until the time of
his death in 1903. A small volume of poems translated into German from
the Dutch and Russian attests to his poetic talent and linguistic ability. As a
master of languages he was a marvel. He spoke and wrote German, Eng-
lish, Spanish, Dutch and Russian, and had a good knowledge of Swedish and
Italian. In addition to his knowledge of modern tongues he was a master of
Greek and Latin.

H. HAACEE H. W. FELTER

ORPHEUS EVERTS was born in Salem, Union County, Indiana, in
1826 and studied medicine under the direction of his father. He received his
degree from the Medical College of Indiana in 1846 and began to practice
in St. Charles, Ill., devoting his spare time to editing a country newspaper
and studying law. He was admitted to the bar in 1860. Incidentally he
had been registrar of the United States Land Office in Hudson, Wis., and
had served as a presidential elector from Indiana. During the war he was
surgeon of the 20th Regiment Indiana Volunteers and participated in nearly
every battle of the Army of the Potomac.

\fter the war he returned to his practice, giving special attention to the
study of psychiatry and neuropathology. He was appointed superintendent
of the Indiana Hospital for the Insane in 1868 and filled the position for
eleven years. In 1880 he assumed the management of the Cincinnati Sani-
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